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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

JOSEPHINE CHIEN,
Plaintiff,
V. GaseNo. 16-cv-01583(APM)

JOHN J. SULLIVAN , acting Secretary

~— /N = N\ /N N N N N

of State}
Defendant.
)
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER
INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Josephine Chien is employed the U.S. Department of State as an Assistant
Regional Security Officer. Based on events that allegedly began withitierassignment in the
Foreign Service in 2010 and contedduring subsequerassignments varous U.S. offices and
embassieabroad, Plaintiff filed this lawsuit against Defend&etretary of Statender Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, alleging race and sex discriminatiostile work environmetn
and retaliation. Several motions to dismiss and amended comdaart<Defendarmow moves
for partial dismissal of Plaintiffs Second Amended Complamtsuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. For the reasons stated b#levcourt denies Defendant’s

Second Renewed Motion for Partial Dismissal.

! Pursuant to Rule 25(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the costitugel the current acting Secretary of
State as the defendant in this case.
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. BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

Plaintiff Josephine Chien, a Taiwanesmericanwoman has been employed hihe
U.S.Department of State since 2009 and currently serves as an AssistamaR8gcurity Officer
("*ARSQ”) within the Foreign ServicePl.’'s Second Am. Compl., ECF Nd9 [hereinafter SAC],
19 1, 9;seeDef.’s Second Renewed Mot. for Partial Dismissal, ECF No. 21, .Ntei®&upp. of
Def.’s Second Renewed Mot. for HalDismissal, ECF No. 21 [hereinafter Def.’s 2d Renewed
Mot.], at 2. Because Plaintiff's allegations of discrimination, hostile workiremment, and
retaliation spamver sixyearsduring her variousoreign Servicassignmentsandonly some of
thoseallegations are relevant to Defendant’s presentang@tthe courtprovidesonly a brief
summary of Plaintiff's employment history hemeferring to heispecific allegations in further
detailbelowas necessary.

Los Angeles Assignmentin March 2010 Plaintiff was assigned to a satellite office of

State’'sLos Angeles Field Office.SeeSAC 110. While in L.A., Plaintiff was supervised by
Michael Lodi, whoPlaintiff alleges discriminated against herfbgguentlyscreaming at her in a
disparaging and deoralizing mannemand by refusing her training and overseassignments
requests See idf110-12. She also alleges that Lodi retaliated against her by threatening to block
her transfer to the main field office amy giving her an unwarranted negative performance
evaluation. See id.{912-18. Plaintiff remained in the L.A. satellite officander Lodi's

supervisioruntil January 20111d. 1 15 19

2 See, €.9g.SAC at 3 n.4 (acknowledging that due to Plaintiff's failure to timely exhaustdneinistrative remedies,
the court may only hear claims arising out of events that occuitexdSeptember 18, 2012, unless those events are
part of the same actionable hostile environment claim).
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Benghazi, Libya Assignmenfifter Plaintiff was transferred out tdfe L.A. satellite office,

shereceived a temporary duty assigent in Benghazi, Libya in May 2011d. 119. Plaintiff
alleges thashe was the only female agent on stafBenghaziand that her newsupervisors
discriminated against her by denying her duty rotations and giving malés ggeferential
treatment and better assignmenBee idJ19-24. She further alleges that her male colleagues
harassed and discriminated against hemiaking “routine and mundane requests to her on
housekeeping issuesld. 124-25.

IslamabadPakistan Assignmentin February 201 Rlaintiff was assigneds an ARSQo

the U.S. Embassy in Isteabad, Pakistam]. § 26,where she remainddr approximéely one year,
see id.] 48 Plaintiff claims that she was harassed and/or discriminated an@tedadigainsin
various ways during her assignment in Pakistan, but her alleggboesally fall into one of four
categories. First, Plaintiff alleges that in June 2012, her supervisor at the time, John Krajicek,
reassignedo a male agenthe decisiormaking responsibilitiegor one of the programs that
Plaintiff was tasked with overseein&ee idf28-31. Plaintiff alscavers that Krajicekefused

to communicate witlherdirectly regrding her duties and programasd that Krajicekdid not do
sowith other agentsld. § 31.

SecondPlaintiff claims that she was “blackballed or retaliated againstt afte broke a
“handshake” agreement withtatein April 2012 concerning a assignmento Dubai See id.
1949-50; see also id{ 49 (explaining that Plaintiff had to negate her handshgkeement after
a human resources officer informed her that the agency could noteassctance to hdrdn
boyfriend by including him as a member of household on the travelraaton due to Sharia
law in Dubai). Plaintiff alleges that after the Dubai incidestte was not givethe same

opportunityas other officersvhen shee-bid for anotherforeign assignmentn or around April



2012 See id.f152-53 In that regard, Plaintiff also contends that State imposed “a differe
standard for males v&us females and/or. . Asians and nonAsiars. See idf 53-56. Plaintiff
alleges that during the summer of 200&en she was bidding on her next assignrt@begin in
2013, she wawold to applyonly for domestic positions See id {14546, 4952. By contrast,
Plaintiff says that imilarly situated maleagens who broke their handshake agreemestils
received foreign assignmentkl. 153. Relatedly, Plaintiff alleges that on at least two occasions,
she was denied a foreign assignment in favor of aA®ien man and woman, respectively, who
were kss senior than she wé&See idf54-56 In the endPlaintiff was ultimately given a future
domesticassignment in the Bureau of Conflict and Stability Operations in Wgtsim, D.C.,
scheduled to begin sometime after her Pakistan assigni®eatidy 47.

Third, Plaintiff allegesthat in January 2013, as part of her fixgar background
investigation updateshewas interviewed by investigators about prior “hopkjp[s]” and her
family in Taiwan. See id.f7 32383 Soon thereafter, Plaintiff leardethat, aspart of the
investigation, the investigatorsad contacted her colleagues and asked them awhether
Plaintiff “had ever complained about work place harassment, a hostillk @nvironment,
discrimination or retaliation.”See id.J 39. Plaintf’ s white male colleague, however, was not
asked any such questions during his “fpear background investigation updat&ee id.|f42.
Plaintiff therefore claims that thextra scrutiny” she received was in retaliation for her protected

EEOactivities. I1d. T 43.

3 Although Plaintiff alleged that she was interviewed in January 2013 in hémadrapmplaint,seeCompl., ECF
No. 1, 131, her amended complaints inconsistently refer to January 2@13uae 2013 as the interview dagee
Am. Compl., ECF No. 10, 134, 38, 43; SAC 11 34, 38, 4Because theection headinglsorefers to January 2013,
seeSAC at 8, and that date falls within the general timeline outlined by Plaih&fcourt assumes the interview took
placeduring her Pakistan assignment simply for ease of analysis in organiegintatty factual allegations.
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Finally, Plaintiff alleges that in late January 2013, about a month befolefsiRakistan,
her career development officanstructed her to rbid for her next assignment becaube
aforementionedBureau of Conflict and Stability Operations position in Washinga€. had
been eliminatedld. 148. Plaintiff placel several foreign bids, but wagormed that she would
not receie a foreign assignmeérand once again, was encouraged to considdy damestic
assignments.See id.f148, 51. In particular, Plaintiff allegeshat after the Regional Security
Officer at the Embassy ilslamabadbffered to call a senior career deyanent and assignment
officer aboutPlaintiff's bidding statushetold her that “it all came down to Dubaid. 1 45, 48,
presumably a reference Riaintiff breaking her handshake agreement to serve in Dubai.

Washington, D.C. AssignmefitFollowing her assignment in Pakistan, which ended in or

aroundlate February 2013seeSAC 148, Plaintiff continued to bid fofforward assignmentsin
foreign countriesto no availsee id 59. Plaintiff alleges that she applied for roughly 30 positions
between June 2013 and September 2013 tlatdhe was denied all such positions because of
discrimination and retaliation.Id. § 59;seeid. at 13-14 (listing positions);see also idJ57
(allegingthat in August 2013, afteshewas denied & foreign assignmestPlaintiff wastold that

“it ha[d]to do with something out of L.A).

Jakarta, Indonesia Assignmeritrom September 2014 to August 2016, Plaintiff served as

an ARSO in Jakartdndonesia, where she was supervised by Robert Castro, a Méxiganican

male. See id.{60. As discussed below, the following allegations concerning Pltif

4 According to Defendant, Plaintiff accepted a position at the Burfdaiplmmatic Security in April 2013SeeDef.’s
2dRenewed Mot. at 4. But that allegatismowheren Plaintiff's Second Amended ComplaireeSAC; cf. Def.’s

Mot. for Partial Disnssal, ECF No. 8, Mem. in Supp. of Def.’s Mot. for Partial Dismissal, ECF NQg.&# 4
(acknowledging that, at least in her original complaint, Plaidiiffnot mention starting a twgear domestic position

in Washington, D.C. in April 2013). Neverths$e because Plaintiff at least implies that she accepted an assignment
in Washington, D.CseeSAC at 10, the court once again will assume that Plaintiff was assigisethe position in

D.C. following her assignment in Pakistan for the sole purposeciitdting organizationof the facts allegethy
assignment



assignment in Jakarta led Plaintiff to file a separate administrativel@omand are generally
referred to by both partiess the “new allegations” in the Second Amended Complaint.

On October 9, 2015, Plaintiff volunteered faeaporary duty assignment (“TDY8&tthe
U.S. Embassy in Malaysidd. §61-62. Several weeks later at a staff meeting, however, Plaintiff
learnedthat one of her white male colleagues received the TDX.{ 65. Moreover while
Plaintiff applied to approximately 26 TDYs in other foreign coustmiiring her Jakarta
assignment, Plaintiff alleges that “other pésian and noffemale ARSOs” were selected for
these positions instead of held. [ 66—67 Plaintiff claims that Defendant discrimirea and
retaliated against her by denying her thessgasnents “resulting in the loss of monetary
benefits” Id. { 67;see also id(alleging that “TDY's are a factor in promotions and higher pay and
are included as a factor in .employee evaluation reports”).

In addition, Plaintiff alleges that Castcoeateda hostile work environment and engaged
in retaliatory acts against herd. 1 68 87. For example, Plaintiff alleges that Castro prevented
her from performing her duties when supervising embassy guards in Nov2dilaesee id.J 69,
and attemied tomake an unofficial requeBbm an Embassy nurse regarding Plairgiffick leave
in February 2016see id.J 70. Frther, Plaintiff alleges thaaftershefiled a discrimination claim
against Castro on March 7, 205ee id.J 72,Castro retaliaté against her by changing her work
hours, placing her on AWOL status for one hour, assigning her to “duty’ wagout notifying
her, restricting her leave requests, and deducting hours from heeplkytdth 1 73-86;see also
1181-82 (noting that withrespect to her lashinute assignment to “duty week,” no other male or

nonAsian ARSD wastreated similarly).



B. Procedural Background

On August 3, 2016, Plaintiff filed suit against Defendant uiidér VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964° allegingfactsthat generally correspond with those feeth in paragraphs 1 through
59 of the Second Amended Complaanid asserting claims of race and sex discrimination, hostile
work environment, and retaliatiorCompareCompl., ECF No. 1with SAC. These factpettain
to events thabeganwith Plaintiff's initial assignment in March 2010 and end with desialof
her bids forforeign assignmenstin September 2013See id. In heroriginal complaint Plaintiff
allegedthat she exhaustelder administrative remediess to these claimby filing her first
administrative complainfcase number DGO8-038-13) SeeCompl. 4 7-54.

On January 24, 201 Defendant moved for partial dismissal of Plainsf€Complaint
pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) olh¢ Federal Rules of Civil Procedur&eeDef.’s Mot. for Partial
Dismissal, ECF No. 8, Mem. in Supp. of Def.’s Mot. for Partial Dssal, ECF No. 4
[hereinafter Def.’s Mot.]. Defendant argued, among other thithgd Plaintiff failed to timely
exhaus her administrative remedies with respect to her Title VIl claims thaeapoior to
September 18, 2012 (i.e., more than 45 days after Plainsificihntacted an EEO counselor), and
that Plaintiff's retaliation claim based on the her secuclgaranceinvestigation was non
justiciable undet).S. Department of Navy v. Egat84 U.S. 518 (1988)SeeDef.’s Mot. at 2-3,
8-14. Defendant did not, however, segismissal ofPlaintiff's claims relatingo her allegation
that she was “denied forward assigmtsefor positions submitted in June 2013, July 2013, August
2013, pnd September 2013."1d. at 11 n.4(quoting Compl. at 11)accordDef.’s 2d Renewed

Mot. at 6.

5n her original Complaint, Plaintiff also asserted claims undew.&C. § 1981 SeeCompl., ECF No. 1, 1%2-83.
She abandoned those claims in subsequent amended com@aisisn. Compl., ECF No. 10, at 1518; SAC at 26
23;see alsd’l.’s Opp’'n to xf.’s 12(b)(6) Mot., ECF No. 11.
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Plaintiff filed her First Amended Complaint ¢iebruary 14, 201, Torrecting some of the
deficiencies identified by DefendantSee Am. Compl, ECF No. 10 [hereinafter FAC] For
example, Plaintiff conceded that the court “only has jurisdiction d&eerdiscrimination and
retaliation claims post September 18, 2012.” Pl.’s Opp’n to Def.13)(@&(Mot., ECF No. 1]lat
1; accordFAC at 3 n.2. Nevertheless, Plaintiff maintd that “insofar as [she]. .allegedacts
for a hostile work environmengplong as a single act falls within the statutory period, ‘the entire
time periodof the hostié environment may be considered by a court for thepgees of
determining liability.”” FAC at 3 n.2 (quotinijat’l R.R. Passenger Corp. Morgan 536 U.S.
101, 114, 117 (2002)@ccordSAC at 3 . BecauséPlaintiff filed her First Amended Complaint
within 21 days of Defendant’s motion to dismiss, and therefore fike@niended pleading as a
matter of right seeFed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(1)(B)he court denied Defendant’s motion for partial
dismissal as mootSeeMinute Order, Febl5, 2017.

Defendat renewechis motionon March 30, 2017 SeeDef.’s Renewed Mot. for Partial
Dismissal, ECF No. 13, Mem. in Supp. of Def.’'s Renewed Mot. fatidP®ismissal, ECF No.
13-1 [hereinafter Def.’s Renewed Mot.]. In this moti@efendant reiteratedis argument that
Plaintiff's retaliation claimbased on theecurity clearance investigation was fjosticiableunder
Egan Seeid. at 2, 69. He also contestedPlaintiff's attemptto resuscitate her hostile work
environment claim with respect to acts tbatured prior to September 18, 2012, which she
conceded she failed to timely exhausbee id.at 26. Specifically, Defendanarguedthat
Plaintiff's time-barred claims did not form “part of the same actionable hostile emmrkonment
claim” as the claims that were timely raised and thus could not bedeogifor purposes of

determining liability. See id. Defendant further ssertedthat the only actions that allegedly



occurred after September 18, 2012, i.e., the denial of foreign assitgfndél not rise to the level
of a hostile work environmentSee idat 4-5.

Before the court could rule on Defendant’s renewed motion, Pfailed a motion for
leave to file a Second Amended ComplaieeMot. for Pl.’s Second Am. Compl., ECF No. 17.
Thecourt ultimately granted Plaintiff's motion and denied Defendanrethewed motion for partial
dismissal without prejudiceSeeMinute Order, Aug8, 2017. Accordingly, on August 8, 2017,
Plaintiff filed her Second Amended ComplaiBeeSAC. TheSecond Amended Complaiatids
allegations concerninigicidents that occurred during PlaintifBssignment in Jakarta, Indonesia
and whichgave risdo discrimination, hostile work environment, and retaliation clgressedy
Plaintiff in asecondadministrative complaint (case humber D@D$88-16). SeeSAC at 1, 1520.
Plaintiffs Second Amended @aplaint, which is now the operative complaint in this matter
asserts violations under Title VII fofl) race and sex discrimination (CountdgeSAC 1189—
93; (2) hostile work environment and harassment (Courgdd,id f194-100; and (3yetaliation
(Count Ill), see id§1101-106.

On October 6, 2017, Defendant filed a Second Renewed Motion for PastmaisBal, in
which heincorporates the arguments madehia previous motions by reference and moves to
dismiss the new allegations in the Second Amended Complaint in theatyepursuant to Rule
12(b)(6). Def.’s 2d Renewed Mot. at-2. With respect to the new allegat®grDefendant argues

that Plaintiff fails to state a claim upon which relah be granted for two independent reasons:

6 Althoughthe securityclearance update investigation also occurred after September 28 D#f#¢ndant contends
that the investigation cannbe considered as part Bfaintiff's hostile work environment clairbecause it ision
justiciableunderEgan See idat 4-5. However, gen reading the complaint(s) in the light most favorable to Plaintiff,
the court does not find Plaintiff to have giéel a hostile work environment claim based on the investigabieezAC
193243, 64-70; SAC 13243, 94-100;see alsd’l.’s Opp'n to Def.’s 12(b)(6) Mot., ECF No. 14, at64(arguing
that for purposes of her hostile work environment claim, the othemtmebarred actions “are related to the denial
of foreign assignments,” without any mention of the security alesm investigation).Thus, the court does not
consider that argument here.



(1) “Plaintiff fails to allege an adverse action that can support aizadge disparate treatment
claim,” and (2) “Plaintiff fails to allege a sufficient causal conmmetbetween any adverse action
and her race, gender, or any prior EEO activitig at 2.

Defendant’smotion is now ripe for consideration.

[l. LEGAL STANDARD

When evaluating a motion under Rule 12¢b) the court “construe[s] the complaint ‘in
favor of the plaintiff, who must be granted the benefit of all infees that can be derived from
the facts alleged.”Hettinga v. United State677 F.3d 471, 476 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (quotichuler
v. UnitedStates 617 F.2d 605, 608 (D.C. Cir. 1979)Jhe court need not accept as thuewever,

“a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegatigkshcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(quotingBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007))T o survive a motion to dismiss,
acomplaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted astéristate a claim to relief that
is plausible on its face.”ld. (quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 570)A claim is plausible on its face
“when the plaintiffpleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonablenagfere
that the defendant is liable for the misconduct allegéd..”

In the Title VII context, a plaintiff need not plead facts establishipgima facie case to
survive a motion talismiss. Townsend v. United Statez36 F. Supp. 3d 280, 309 (D.D.C. 2017)
(citing Brady v. Office of Sergeant at Armna20 F.3d 490, 493 (D.C. Cir. 20083ge Swierkiewicz
v. Sorema N.A534 U.S. 506, 511 (2002). The court may, however, “explore the plaintiff's
prima facie case at the dismissal stage to determine whether thefpdamefver meet h[er] initial
burden to establish a prima facie caseGilliard v. Gruenberg No. 16¢v-2007, 2018 WL
1471949, at *§D.D.C. Mar. 26, 2018falteration in original)internal quotation marks omitted).

That is, accepting the plaintiff's factual allegations as true and dyailimferences in her favor,
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the court must determine wheth&he plaintiff has alleged factbeontent in her complaint that
‘allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendiabtagunder Title VII] for
the misconduct alleged.’1d. (quotinglgbal, 556 U.S. at 678).

V. DISCUSSION

Title VII prohibits a federal employer fro discriminating against an employee based on
her race sex or nationality Baird v. Gotbaum (Baird 1])792 F.3d 166, 168 (D.C. Cir. 2015)
(citing 42 U.S.C. 8000e16(a)). Title VIl also makes it unlawful to retaliate against an ey
“because [s]he has opposed any practice made unlawful by [Title VII.](second alteration
in original) (uoting 42 U.S.C. 8000e3(a)). Both of these provisions alsmcompass a claim
based on a “hostile work environmentSeeHarris v. Forklift Sys., In¢.510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993)
(discrimination);Baird I, 792 F.3d at 168 (retaliation).

In this case, Plaintifasserts violations under Title VII for race and sex discrimination
hostile work environment‘and harassmefitand retaliation. To recap, inhis presentmotion,
Defendantdoes not seek dismissal of Plaintiff's Title VII claims relatedh®allegations that
Plaintiff “was denied forward assignments for positions submitted in June 20§ 2013, August
2013, and September 2013.” D22d Renewed Motat 6 (citing SAC %9). Rather, Defendant
seeks dismissal of Plaintiff's remaining claims on three grouRaist, Defendant urges the court
to dismiss Plaintiff's Title VIl claims to the extent those claime hased on incidentsah
allegedly occurregbrior to Sepember 18, 2012. &ause Plaintiff concedes that she camelyt
onpre-September 18, 20Eentgo supporherdisparate treatment retaliation claimsseeSAC
at 3n.4,the only claim at issuis Plaintiff's hostile work environment claim. Second, Defendant
argues thato the extenPlaintiff's retaliation claim is premised daxtra scrutiny” she allegedly

received during her security clearance investigation, that datamonjusticiable andtherefore
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must be dismissed. Third and finally, Defendeonitends that the new allegations in the Second
Amended Complaint fail to allegenadverse employment action or a causal connection between
such action and Plaintiff's race, sex, or prior EEOvitets. Because Defendant seeks dismissal
of the new allegations in theantirety, Defendanpresumablyseeks dismissal of any hostile work
environment claim based on the new allegatassvell

The court will address each of these arguments in turn.

A. Hostile Work Environment

The court begins with Defendant’s first argument concerakitaustion andPlaintiff's
hostile work environment claimThe parties agree that Plaintiff failed to exhaust any Title VII
claim based on actions that occurred prior to September 18, 2012ugnat tihe very leasthat
she cannot rely on such actions to support a cldidisorimination or retaliationSeeSAC at 3
n.4. Defendant, however, also maintains that Plaintiflaised from relying on such actions to
support hehostile work environment claimSeeDef.’s Renewed Mot. &-6, see alsdef.’s 2d
Renewed Mot. at {‘Plaintiff fails to allege a plausibleontinuing violation theory that would
permit her to recover vig-vis her hostile work environment claim based on acts that allegedly
occurred more than 45 days prior to Plaintiff contacting an EEO etwjng). While Defendant
acknowledges that eagti, timebarred incidentsan qualify*as part of the same actionable hostile
work environment claim . .if they are adequately linked into a coherent hostile environment
claim,” Def.’s Renewed Mot. at @uotingBaird v. Gotbaun{Baird I), 662 F.3d 1246, 1251 (D.C.
Cir. 2011));seeMorgan, 536 U.S.at 120-21 he contendshat Plaintiff fails to allege facts that
plausibly satisfy that standard hesegDef.’s Renewed Mot. at-B.

The court need not resolve this argument at present, however, for twostedsost,

although Defendantlearly acknowledges that Plaintiff has asserted a hostile work environment
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claim in the Second Amended Complédatsed on the new allegations concerritagntiff's time

in Jakarta Def.’'s 2d Renewed Motat 5, 1112, Defendantdoes not directly challenge the
sufficiency ofPlaintiff's pleading ofthat claimin his present motian Rather,as tothese new
allegations Defendantargues only thatPlaintiff has failed to plead plausible claims of
discriminationandretaliation Seeid. at -2, 8-14. He is entirely silenas to whether those same
allegations support a hostile work environment clafkhleast at the motion to dismiss statjee
court treats Defendant’s silence as aaassion as to the plausibility of Plaintiff's hostile work
environment claim based on the events alleged to have occurred in J&a8eerra v. Hayden
254 F. Supp. 3d 230, 245 (D.D.C. 20X/Bffsng to dismiss a discrimination claim based on-non
promotion where the defendant did not move to dismiss that actionticuts, and noting only
that sucha claim was “likely dismissible”)see also id(“[ Jua sponteRule 12(b)(6) dismissal is
approprate only when it is patently obvious that the plaintiff could not Ipaggailed on the facts
alleged in [her] complaint.” (alterations in original) (internalotption marks omitted) (citing
Fields v. BellamyNo. 935274, 1994 WL 549470, at *1 (D.C. Cik994))).

To be sureDefendantdoes incorporate by reference the argument made ieahier
motion for partial dismissatdirected at the First Amended Complai#that Plaintiff's hostile
work environment claim does not meet the high bar establisheddoictaims undéedarris. See
Def.’s 2d Renewed Mott 1; Def.’s Renewed Mot. at 5. That argument, howevertgmsonly
to the sufficiency of Plaintiff's pleading of a hostile work eomiment based on events occurring
between September 18, 2012, and October A6 3before Plaintiff's assignment to Jakar&ee
Def.’s Renewed Mot. at-%; FAC at 3-14 Merely incorporating an argument about a different
time period does not suffice to challerfgaintiff's hostile work environmentlaim based orthe

later events occurring in Jakart@€f. Doe v. Siddig810 F. Supp. 2d 127, 1338 (D.D.C. 2011)
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(declinng to give “serious attention” to the defendants’ argument in suppalismissl where
defendantdailed to make “any attempt to correlate theirdupported] argument to the factual
allegations set forth in the. .[c]Jomplaint,” because “courts need not resolve arguments raised in
a cursory manner and with only the most Hawaes arguments in suppoti(citing Wash. Legal
Clinic for the Homeless. Barry, 107 F.3d 32, 39 (D.C. Cir. 1997)Accordingly, Plaintiff's
Second Amended Complaint states a hostile work environlamh that may proceed to
discovery

Second, having concluded that Plaintiff has statedeplausible claim of hostilework
environment, the court will not attemyatt this stagep parse the different time periods within the
Second Amended Complaitd ferret out the alleged acts for which Defendant can and cannot be
held liable under such claim Although far fom a model of clarity, the Second Amended
Complaint appears to assert a single hostile work environment b&gmning with Plaintiff's
initial assignment in L.A. and continuing through her assignmergkarth. Sece SAC 1148, 57;
id. at 3 n.4;see alsd”l.’s Opp’n to Def.’s 12(b)(6) Mot., ECF Na&4, at1-2 WhetherPlaintiff
can sustain that theory is ultimately a matter of ptbaf will depend, in part, on whether the
events allegeddre adequately linked into a coherent hostile environment clédeeBaird |, 662
F.3d at 1257. And, even if, say, the piBeptember 18, 2012 allegations cannot be “adequately
linked” to theeventsoccurring after that date, those otherwise stale allegations,ragyjbefendant

concedes, be of possibilelevanceo the etxent “they are provided exclusively as ractionable

" The court recognizes that Baird, the court wagonfronted wih a motion to dismiss artderefore addressate
guestionwhetherthe alleged employment actions wgrausiblylinked to one another such that they formed one
coherent hostile work environment clainsee Baird I| 792 F.3d at 17&/1. But inBaird, the plaintiff “made no
serious attempt ttie [her allegations] togethér.ld. at 171.In this case, Plaintiff at least makes some effort to do so.
SeePl.’s Opp’n to Def.’s 12(b)(6) Mot., ECF No. 14, a2]15-6. In any event, the court here need natifer consider
whether Plaintiff has plausibly alleged a sufficient connection fardatitional reason. BecauBefendant fails to
articulate the‘actionable hostile work environment cldithat this court should use as the benchmark for purposes
of detemining whether the actions afadequately linketiunder MorganandBaird, the court declines to consider
any such argument for thensa reasons stated above.
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‘background evidence.Def.’s Renewed Mot. at;3ee also Morgarb36 U.S. at 113 (explaining
that while “discrete discriminatorgctsare not actionablé time barred,” an employee may use
such actsas background evidence in support of a timely clainThus, given that, at this stage,
all of the Second Amended Complaint’'s allegations might Isawveerelevance to Plaintiff's
hostile work environment claim, the court deems it better Igittstrmmary judgment to determine
the preciseontoursof that claim and the evidence that might suppor&ste Guerrero v. Vilsack
134 F. Supp. 3d 411, 4323 (D.D.C. 2015)cf. id. at 432(citing cases in which other courts in
this district have “likewise refrained from deciding, based on an E&@plaint alone, whether
alleged violations are discrete or continuing)”).

B. Justiciability of Plaintiff's Retaliation Claim Based onthe Security
Clearance Investigation

The court turns next t®laintiff's retaliation claim premised on the “extra scrutiny” she
allegedly received duringfive-year securityclearanceipdatenvestigation Defendant contersd
that thisclaim is norjusticiable undelJ.S. Department of Navy v. Ega84 U.S. 518 (1988), and
its progeny.SeeDef.’s Mot. at 12-14; Def.’s Renewed Mot. at-8.

In Egan the SupremeCourt held that the MeriBystemsProtection Board lacked the
authority to reiew afederal employee’s complaint about the denial of a security clearance. 484
U.S. at 55-30 The Cout stated that, “[flor ‘reasons. .too obvious to call for enlarged
discussion,’ the protection afassified information must be committed to thiead discretion of

the agency responsible, attals must include broad discretion to determine who may have access

8 Plaintiff is reminded, however, th§tlhe Morgan principle is not . .an open sesame tecovery for timebarred
violations.” Baird I, 662 F.3d at 1251“Both incidents barred by the statute of limitati@msl ones not barred can
qualify as ‘part of the same actionable hostile environment claim’ibthey are adequately linked into a coherent
hostile environmentif, for example, they involve[ ] theasne type of employment actions, occur[ ] relatively
frequently, and [are] perpetrated by the same managdds.(quoting Morgan, 536 U.S. at 12P1); see also
Bergbauer v. Maby934 F. Supp. 2d 55, 71 (D.D.C. 2013) (applyihgrganto the 45day reguladry time limit to
contact an EEO counseloi)); at 71 n.11 (citing casesRlaintiff will have to come forward with evidence of such an
“adequate linkage” to survive summary judgment.
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to it.” Id. at 529 @lteration in original) ¢itationomitted). “[I]t is not reasonably possible for an
outside nonexpert body to reviewet substance afuch a judgment and to decide whether the
agency should have been able to make the necesffamative prediction with confidence.ld.
The ordinary presumption favoring reviewability administrative actions, the Court explained,
“runs aground when it encounters concerns of natse@lrity.” Id. at 55-27.

Applying Egan in the Title VII context, the D.C. Circuit haseld that“an adverse
employment action based faj denial or revocation of a security clearance is not actionable under
Title VII.” Ryan v. Rend 68 F.3d 520, 524 (D.C. Cir. 1999). Ryan the plaintiffs were denied
federal jobs because they were not granted the required security cleapadeesion that the
plaintiffs asserted was discriminatorld. at 522-23. Stating that it was “necessary” to apply the
McDonnell Douglasurden-shiftinganalysisto determine the merits of the plaintiffs’ claiththe
court concluded that it could not “clear the second std@aidonnell Douglasvithout running
smack up agast Egan” Id. at 523-24. In particular because the federal agency had proffered
the plaintiffs’ inability to obtain security clearances ass:discriminatory reason for the non
hiring, the court ruled that plaintiffs “could not challenge theffered reason’s authenticity
without also challenging its validity.td. at 524. Challenging the reason’s validity, in turn, would
have required the plaintiffs to ask the court to review the merits eofséizurity clearance
decisions—a result forbidden b¥gan See id. see alsd~oote v. Moniz751 F.3d 656, 65%9
(D.C. Cir. 2014)Bennett v. Chertafd25F.3d 999, 1003 (D.C. Cir. 20D5

But under this Circuit’s precederiganalso has its limitsin Rattigan v. HoldertheD.C.

Circuit held thatEgandoes not “insulate] from Title VII all decisions that might bear upon an

%In cases where there is no direct evidence of discriminati@tadiation, courts apply the burdshifting framework
set forth inMcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Gree#All U.S. 792 (1973)See Weber v. Battistd94 F.3d 179, 182 (D.C.
Cir. 2007). Under that framework, the plaintiff bears the burden of estadgia prima facie case of discrimination
or retaliation, aslefinedbelow. See Walker v. Johnsor98 F.3d 1085, 1091 (D.C. Cir. 2015).
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employee’s eligibility to access classified information689 F.3d 764, 767 (D.C. Cir. 2012).
Because Egan emphasized that the decision to grant or deny security clearanceesequi
‘[p]redictive judgment’ that ‘must be made by those with the necessqrgrtise in protecting
classified information,”id. (alteration in original) (quotingcgan 484 U.S. at 529)he court
reasoned thdEgandoes not precludall review of decisions by employeedo lack expertise in
security matterandmerely report security concernil. at 768 see also idat 771 (holding that
Egandoes not apply to claims premised on the assertion that “agency empdcyeeésvith a
retaliabry or discriminatory motive in reporting or referring infaation that they knew to be
false”).

Here, Defendant argues that the allegation that Plaintiéived “extra scrutiny” during
interviews related toher security clearance investigation “ditgcimplicatgs] agency decisions
regarding her security cleararicand thuss “the type of discretionary actiphthat[is] exempted
from review” underEgan and its progeny.Def.’s Mot. at12, 14. This argument, however,
misapprehends the nature of Plaintiff's claims. Here, Plaidb#fs not allege that her security
clearance was denied or revoksedeSAC at 810, or even thaDefendaninitiated review of her
security clearance for retaliatory reasosse id. (characterizing the inquiry as a fiyear
background investigation updatd}ather sheclaimsthatshe receivetiextra scrutiny” durincher
securityclearance update investigationretaliation for her prior EEO activitiesSeeid. 1 43.
Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that the investigators asked her friends and colleagues wihether s
“had evercomplainedabout work place harassment, a hostile work environnastrimination
or retaliation; id. { 39, and thaPlaintiff deemedheseinquiries“asdissuadng her from filing
further EEO charges against the Agenag,”] 41. These questionfroweverwhen considered

at the motion to dismiss stage, have no apparemembion to national security any ‘[p]redictive
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judgment” about Plaintiff securityclearance worthinesmd thus do not run afoul &gan See
Egan 484 U.S. at 529Moreover,in Rattigan the D.C. Circuit emphasized that its duty was not
only to follow Egan “but also tgpreserv]e] to the maximum extent possible Title VII's important
protections against workplaadiscrimination and retaliatioh. 689 F.3d at 7704(teration in
original) (internal quotation markemitted). Heding that guidance here, the couannot
conclude that Plaintiff's clairmust be dismissed asnjusticiable.

C. Plaintiffs New Discrimination and Retaliation Claims

Finally, the court turns to the new allegationghe Second Amended Complaint, which
Defendant seeks to dismiss in their entirety. As discussed, Defleddas not address whether
thoseallegations aransufficient to supporta hostile work environment claim, and the court
thereforewill not dismiss thenewallegationson thatground

Instead, Defendant focuses on why the new allegations fail te staclaim of
discrimination or retaliation under Title VIIAlthough the pleading of a prima facie caseler
McDonnell Douglass not required to survive a motion to dismisse Swierkiewich34 U.S. at
51011, it is helpful to set forth the elements of a prima facie case ihevederto frame
Defendant’s argumentslo state a prima facie case of discrimination, a plaintiff must shatv th
“[1] she ispart of a protected classnder Title VII, [2] she suffered a cognizablverse
employment action, ani8] the action gives rise to an inference of discriminatidhat is,“an
inference that [her] employer took the action because of [her] membearshg protected class.”
Walker v. Johnson798 F.3d 1085, 1091 (D.C. Cir. 201Bypwn v. Sessomg74 F.3d 1016, 1022
(D.C. Cir. 2014) (internal quotation mark omitted). To stateimgfacie case of retaliation, a
plaintiff must show that “[1] she engaged in activity protectedibg VII, [2] the employer took

[materially] adverse action againker, and [3] the employer took that action because of [her]
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protected conduct.”"Walker, 798 F.3dat 1091-92; see Baloch v. Kempthorn850 F.3d 1191,
1198 (D.C. Cir. 2008).

With this general framework in minBefendantargueghat the new allegatiorsdould be
dismissed under Rule 12(b)(®)r two separate reasons. Filgfendant contends that Plaintiff
fails to allege any adverse employment action that can support her distiom and retaliation
claims. SeeDef.’s 2d Renewed Mot. at 8-13. Seond, Defendant contends theven if Plaintiff
has sufficiently alleged adverse action, she fails to allege a causaktion between such action
and her race, sex, or prior EEO activitgee idat 2, 13-14. The court addressesch of these
contentons in turn

1. Adverse Employment Action

Because thetandard for what constitutemdverse action differs in discrimination and
retaliation caseseeBurlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. Whi&l8 U.S. 53, 6468 (2006)the
court will address these claims separat@gginningwith Plaintiff's new discrimination claim in
the Second Amended ComplairRjaintiff alleges that she was discriminated against when
Defendant denied he TDY in Malaysia and 26 other TDYs, rangifrom Beijing to Warsaw.
SeeSAC (1160-67, 91; Pl.’s Opp’rio Def.’s Second 12(b)(6) Mot., ECF No. 22 [hereinafter Pl.’s
Opp’n], at 34; cf. Def.’s 2d Renewed Mot. at-Q1. Plaintiff says that her whitand African
American male colleagsgewnere treatetletter tharshe wadecause they were awarded the TDYs
that shewvas denied.SeePl.’s Opp’n at 1, Jciting SAC 167).

Defendant urges the court to dismiss Plaintiff's new disoation claim because “[a]
TDY denial is not considered an adverse employment action absestiathatadverse
consequences, which Plaintiff has not demonstrated.” Def.’s ZelleinViot. at 11 {ing cases).

But Defendant reads the complaint too narrowjaintiff here has allegedot only that “TDY's
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are a factor for promotion and higher pay and are included as a factaemployee evaluation
reports,” but that in her caslee denial offDYs also“resulfed in a loss of monetary benefits
SAC 167. Theallegedloss of “monetary benefits” sets this matter apart from those authorities
cited by DefendantCf. Nichols v. Truscott424 F. Supp. 2d 124, 1388(D.D.C. 2006)holding,

at sunmary judgment stagéhat the repeated denial plaintiff's requests for detail assignments
was not adverse “because it did not have ‘materially adverse consequencest or ‘tdgectively
tangible harm™);Moore v. Ashcroft401 F. Supp. 2d 1, 32 (D.D.C. 2008plding atsummary
judgment stage, that even if the defendant thwarted Huetiff's participation in a TDY
assignment, thelaintiff failed to demonstrate any “materially adverse consequencetiabf
action) Plaintiff thereforehasalleged facts that plausibly establish tlzest a result of the dengal
she experienced “materially adverse consequences affecting the termseenolitprivileges of
[her] employment or future employment opportunisegsh that a reasonable trier of fact could
find objectively tangible harm.”Forkkio v. Powell 306 F.3d 1127, 1131 (D.C. Cir. 2008ge
Douglas v. Donovans59 F.3d 549, 552 (D.C. Cir. 2009)fing that in most cases,tangible
employment actiowill “ inflict[ ] direct economic harrh(emphasis omitted)guoting Burlington
Indus., Inc. v. Ellerth524 U.S.742, 762 (199§). That is all that is required at the motion to
dismiss stage.

Next up is Plaintiff'sretaliation claim “Adverse actions’ in the retaliation context
encompassa broader sweep of actions than those in a pure discrimination cl&aidch 550
F.3d at 1198 n.4.“[A] plaintiff must show that a reasonable employee would have fdwend t
challerged action materially adverseyhich means‘it well might havedissuaded reasonable
worker from making or suppang a charge of discrimination.’Burlington N, 548 U.S. at 68

(internal quotation marks omitted)
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As part of her new allegations in the Second Amendedplzomy, Plaintiffaversthat she
engaged in protected EEO activity on March 7, 2016, when she inforenddelputy Chief of
Mission that her supervisor (Castro) was discriminating againdiyhgiving better treatment to
male ARSOs. SeeSAC 172; Pl.’s Opp’n at 2, 4.Thereafter Plaintiff alleges that{1) Castro
suddenlychanged Plaintiff seporting timefrom 8:30 a.m. to 7:30 a.m. and made the change
effective retroactively, causing her to be placed on AWOL status for amese@SAC 173-75
(2) Castroassigned Plaintiffo “duty week without sufficient notice andchoreoftenthan her male
and norAsian colleaguessee id.f176-82 cf. Def.’s 2d Renewed Mot. at 9; (B)aintiff was
restricted on further leave requesteeSAC { 83;and (4) Castro authorize®laintiff's weekly
salary to be deducted by nine hours for “leave without pay,” even thehayhas on approved
sick leave during that timesee id.184-86. SeePl.’s Opp’n at 2, 45; cf. Def.’s 2d Renewed
Mot. at9, 12-13.1°

The first, third, and fourth actionsl abncern leave issues. As to those issues, Defendant
argues that such “minor workplace occurrences do not rise to the levehofi@mable adverse
action.” SeeDef.’s 2d Renewed Mot. at 12 (citing cases). True, the Supreme Colnlabat

Title VII's anti-retaliation provisan only protectsndividuals from retaliation that “produces an

10 Defendant reds theSecond Amended Complaint to also assert hostile work enviraranen as relevant here,
retaliation claims based upon other alleged incidentd) as Castro pulling Plaintiff away from her dusiegervising
guards at the Embassy gate on November 30, 2885AC 169-70 and attempting tmake an unofficial request
to anEmbassy nurse regarding Plaintiff's leave request on Febidar3016see id.f 71 SeeDef.’s 2d Renewe
Mot. at 11(arguing that “such actions by her supervisor, even if tloenot constitute adverse employment actions
for purposes of discrimination or retaliation”). In her Oppositi@wéwver, Plaintiff only focuses on those actions
that occurred after March 7, 2016, when she informed the Deputy @hssion that Castr was discriminating
against her.SeePl.’s Opp’n at 2, 45. Because it is far from clear whether the Second Amended Congdsants a
retaliation claim with respect to those allegatiossg, e.g.SAC 1103, the court follows Plaintiff's lead in degsng

the claims set forth in her own complaint. In any event, even if thplaorhwere to assert a retaliation claim based
on those two allegations, the court would disnsissh a clainfor lack of causal connection between the alleged
actions and the prior EEO activithAssuming the truth dhe factsallegedin the Second Amended Complaint, both
actions occurretteforePlaintiff contacted the Deputy Chief of Mission regarding Castil@ state the obvious, an
employee cannot claim retaliation for protected activity that Batoyoccur.” Ames v. Nielser286 F. Supp. 3d 70,
84 (D.D.C. 2017).
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injury or harm,” and not “those petty slights or minor annoyariwgsoften take place at work and
that all employees experienceSee Burlington N548 U.S. a67—-68.But theexamples of “minor
workplace occurrence<ited by Defendanare dstinguishable from the allegations in tloigse.
Take Aldrich v. Burwel] 197 F. Supp. 3d 124 (D.D.C. 2016pr example As Defendant
acknowledges, the court that caewas concerned with “close scrutiny, monitoring, or tracking
of an employee’s whereabouts.” Def.’s 2d Renewed Mot. at 12 (quatingh, 197 F. Supp. 3d
at 132). InAldrich, thedistrict court held thathe plaintiff failed to plead facts showing that her
supervisor's leave restriction constituted a materially adverse awti@ne “[a]ll that was
demanded of her was that she ‘announce any arrival, as well as watitaand every departure
during the dg, thatmight take 15 minutes or maté SeeAldrich, 197 F. Supp. 3d at 134uoting
the plaintiff's complaint) Here, by contrast, Plaintiff alleges that her supervisor retaliatealsaga
her bynot onlyaffirmatively restricting her leave requestaut alsoplacing her on AWOL status
after retroatively changing her work hours and authorizing her pay to be deducted fartihaiur
were pre-approved for sick leavelt is at leastplausible thatheseactions, either individually or
collectively,could hae dissuaded a reasonable worker from making a charge of discrimitation.
That leaveghe second action concerning Plaintifissignment to “duty weegkduring

which State employees are required tmwbastandby for assignments their off days SeeSAC

11 The court pauses to note one caveat with the leave restrstieSAC 1 83 While the othetwo cases cited by
Defendant suggest that a leave restriction, standing alone, idiesitfto support a claim of retaliatiosgeRamsey
v. Moniz 75 F. Supp. 3d 29, 54 (D.D.C. 201BpuglasSlade v. LaHood793 F. Supp. 2d 838 (D.D.C. 2011) it

is not clear that Plaintiff is in fact challenging the restriction as a-stiome act of retaliatiohere seePl.’s Opp’n at
2, 45. In any event, both of those cases were decided on surjudgnyent and involved plaintiffs who failed to
articulate “ary context regarding the restriction or any evidence to concludé thetld have dissuaded a reasonable
employee from pursuing an EEO claim, as requirdkeimsey75 F. Supp. 3d at 54f. DouglasSlade 793 F. Supp.
2d at 98. For these reasons, ancchase “the significance of any given act of retaliation will oftereddpipon the
particular circumstancesBurlington N, 548 U.S. at 69, the court declines to reach the issue here atdtion to
dismiss stagegf. Sims v. District of Columbja33 F.Supp. 3d 1, 2-13(D.D.C. 2015) (concluding, at summary
judgment stage, that “the denial of a regular schedule or days off’ and “théafgiantiff's leave request” could
constitute adverse action for purposes of establishing a praeectase of refiation).
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1 77;see also id(noting that during duty weeks, ARSOs “may not travel outside @rtiiland
must“constantly check their blackberries for messages and emails aftef)hdlaintiff alleges
that Castro assigned her to “duty week” for May 9,eJd8, June 27, and July 25, 2014. {78.
Additionally, Plaintiff avers that Castran contravention of his usual practiagnexpectedly
assigned Plaintiff to duty week for the week of July 18, 2016, without ghlamgprior notice,
thereby causindper to cancel already finalized travel plankl. §§79-81. Plaintiff alleges that
“[n]o other male or nofAsian ARSO was treated similarlyid. 182, and that she was given such
assignments in retaliation for her prior EEO activstge id 168, 72, 87

Defendanh assertsthat such action does not constitute ‘@dverse employment
decision[].” SeeDef.’s 2d Renewed Mot. at 23. D.C. Circuit precedent, however, says
otherwise. “In the retaliation context, instead of requiring a significaamge in employment
status to constitute adversity, an action is adverse if it wowlel ‘déssuaded a reasonable worker
from making or supporting a charge of discriminatiorCrowley v. Vilsack236 F. Supp. 3d 326,
330 (D.D.C. 2017) (quotind@Burlington N, 548 U.S. at 68 Applying that standard, the
D.C. Circuit has held thd{a] reasonable employee might well be dissuaded from filing ZDE&E
complaint if she thought her employer would retaliate by buryingirhavork.” Mogenhan v.
Napolitang 613 F.3d 1162, 1166 (D.C. Cir. 20168geJouanny v. Embassy of France in the U.S.
No. 16cv-135, 2017 WL 2455023, at *6 (D.D.C. 2017) (holding that allegations concerning the
defendant nearly doubling the plaintiff's workload to pressure her to @igifee[d] the adversity
requirement for a retakion claim”(citing Mogenhan613 F.3d at 113 Accordingly,Plaintiff's
retaliation claim based ahe assignmenbf additional‘duty weels” satisfiesthat standard at the

motion to dismiss stage.
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2. Causal Connection

Alternativdy, Defendantcontends that even if Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged adverse
action, Plaintiff's new discrimination and retaliation claims still fail becasBedoes notallege
any causal connection between the asserted action and her race, sex, or prior BEO Seitv
Def.’s 2d Renewed Mot. & 13-14. The court, however, need only address this argument in the
context of Plaintiff's discrimination clain? According to Defendant, “Plaintiff's vague assertions
that she believes that male and +Asian [ARSOs)were treated better than her areinadequate
to support a discrimination claim.id. at 14.

The court disagreesAt the motion to dismiss stag® laintiff need only allege thas]he
‘suffered an adverse employment actionbecause of [her] race .[or] se{.]” Munro v.
LaHood 839 F. Supp. 2d 354, 3681 (D.D.C. 2012) (quotinBaloch 550 F.3cat 1196; see also
Nurriddin v. Bolden674F. Sipp. 2d 64, 90 (D.D.C. 2009) (noting thahétthreshold for pleading
facts in support of a Title VII discrimination claim is a low one,” #mat “district courts should
not undertake a ‘full causation analysis’ in evaluating thaecseificy of the pma facie cas®g.
And, “an inference of discrimination may be drawn where an ‘employeettedher employees
of a different race . .[or] sex. . .more favorably in the same factual circumstanceBdivnsend
236 F. Supp. 3d at 30Quoting Brady, 520 F.3d at 495).Here, Plaintiff offers her colleagues

Mike Bjelavic and Joseph Williams as comparators who were treated anoralbly because they

12The court does not address s&liconnection as to Plaintiff's retaliation claim for seveealsons. First, insofar as
the alleged adverse actionscurred after March 7, 2016, Defendant does not dispute caus&@ewDef.’s 2d
Renewe Mot. at 13-14. Second, insofar as the alleged adverse adtmsred before March 7, 2016, Plaintiff does
not characterize those actions as relevant to proving her retalitgion SeePl.’s Opp’'n at 45. Concededly, the
court may have misietpreted Plaintiff's pleading, as does not clearly delineatghat actions are relevant to
Plaintiff's discrimination, retaliation, and hostile work environmeairgk, respectively For instance, the Second
Amended Complaint is vague as to whether28@ DY denials occurred before or after March 7, 2016, the date of
her protected activity. Plaintiff assenispreciseimeline as to these denialSeeSAC 166. However, in a footnote,
she citesa March 19, 2016counsel’sletter’ to support the allegation that Plaintiff “was rejected for” all 26 TDYs.
Id. at 16& n.23. If the TDY denials in fact occurred on or about March 19, 2016athansal connection between
thosedenials and Plaintiff's prior EEO activity is at leasiysible.
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were norAsian and male in the same factual circumstances (i.e., in the seleC#dRSOsfor
TDYs). SeeSAC 11 6667; Pl.’'s Opp’n at 44. Thus, Plainff has plausibly alleged that she was
discriminated against on the basis of race and sex.

* * *

In sum,the court denies Defendant's Second Renewed Motion for Partialid3sl of
Plaintiff's newdiscriminaton and retaliation claims concerning incidents that allegedly cexdur
duringherJakarta assignmenfdditionally,insofar adlaintiff’'s hostile work environment claim
is based on such allegations, the court will allow that claim to geafd. At the summary
judgment stage, the court will decide whether Plaintiff's otherileosbrk environment claims
are part of the “sameolstile work environment” as the clajppnemisecn the new allegations and,
if not, whetherany of those other claims (to the extent they were timely exhausteabtenmgable
asa separate hostile work environment clafimFinally, the court finds thaEgandoes not bar
review of Plaintiff's retaliation claim based on “extra scrutinyg shceived during her security
clearanceupdate investigation. Accordingly, Defendant’s motion to disnasdenied in this
respect as well.

V. CONCLUSION AND ORDER
For the foregoing reasons, Defendant’'s Second Renewed Motion for| Easmissal,

ECF No. 21, is denied.

A s

Dated: April 25, 2018 Amit P a
United States District Judge

13 As explained above, Plaintiff concedes that her discrimination etadiation claims based on incidents that
allegedly occurred prior to September 18, 2012, are-bians=d. SeeSAC at 3 n.4see alsdPl.’s Opp’n to Def.’s
12(b)(6) Mot., ECF No. 11, at 1. Accordingly, the court does not redskitend Amended Complaittt assert such
claims and need not grant Defendant’s motion on those grounds. tBatdrtent there is any question remaining as
to the viability of those claims, they are dismissed.
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